#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

WAYNE MICHAEL CAMERON,	Electronically Filed
Appellant.	Mar 10 2022 02:32 p.m Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court
V.	·
STATE OF NEVADA,	
Respondent.	Case No. 83531

## **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

# APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCING

## SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT STATE OF NEVADA

The Honorable Barry Breslow, presiding

Richard F. Cornell, Esq.

RICHARD F. CORNELL, P.C.
150 Ridge Street, Second Floor
Reno, Nevada 89501
775/329-1141
richardcornell1553@gmail.com
Attorneys for Appellant

Washoe Co. District Attorney
Appellate Division
1 South Sierra Street, 7<sup>th</sup> Floor
Reno, Nevada 89501
775/337-5700

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. DOCKETING STATEMENT

Because this is an appeal from a judgment of conviction based on a jury verdict of a Category A felony, it should remain with the Nevada Supreme Court. NRAP 17(b)(2)(A). It should remain there anyway because the Fourth and Sixth assignments of error raise questions of first impression involving the United States Constitution.

#### B. STATEMENT OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW

The State filed an Information against Appellant, charging one count of murder with the use of a deadly weapon. It was charged in alternate theories: either open murder (1-AA-1-2) or felony murder. (1-AA-2) The language of the Information on the felony murder charge specifically read as follows:

"That the said Defendant, Wayne Michael Cameron, on or about the 11<sup>th</sup> day of February, 2020, within the county of Washoe, state of Nevada, killed Jarrod Faust in the perpetration or attempted perpetration of a burglary by entering a vehicle with the intent to commit assault or a battery or any felony therein, in that the killing occurred when the Defendant followed a vehicle driven by Jarrod Faust on Welcome Way. The Defendant stopped his vehicle, exited his vehicle with a firearm, approached the driver's side of the Chevrolet Silverado occupied by Jarrod Faust, and shot Jarrod Faust in the face, thereby inflicting mortal injuries upon Jarrod Faust from which he died on or about February 11, 2020, all of which occurred at or near 13425 Welcome Way, Reno."

The State and Defendant filed a number of pre-trial motions, two of which

are discussed extensively below. The first was the State's Motion to Admit Other Act Evidence of "Road Rage." (1-AA-7-37) The State contended therein that the Appellant per his statement acted in response to seeing some type of confrontation between the truck (driven by the victim) and a motorcycle (1-AA-10), but that the Appellant claimed that he did not act "with road rage." (Id. at 11)

The State wished to introduce evidence of an incident approximately 13-18 months prior between Appellant and a young lady with the initials "L.M.", where the Appellant followed her in the same general neighborhood of south-southwest Reno to her residence. By description, nothing violent happened between the Appellant and "L.M." See: 1-AA-12-14.

The second incident involved Appellant's daughter, "A.C.", who recalled an incident occurring in the same neighborhood approximately 12 months prior where Appellant followed four teenagers in a Jeep who had tailgated him. Again, by the description, nothing violent happened between the Appellant and the teenagers.

See: 1-AA-14. The State argued that these prior acts were relevant to his motive, his intent and absence of mistake or accident. Per the State: "Contrary to his statement to detectives, [Appellant] actually is 'a road rage guy'." (Id. at 15)

The State also filed a Motion to Admit Other Acts Evidence Regarding "Shootings." (1-AA-38-48) There, the State pointed to additional facts: a) about an hour after the shooting of Mr. Faust, the Appellant texted his close friend, Mr.

Colarchik, where he stated "I think I shot someone. I hate when people make me mad. I hate that I know the law because I'm the one that got out of the car." b)

Detectives had information from Appellant's son, Ethan, that Appellant always kept a black pistol, possibly a Glock, chambered in either a 9mm or .40 under the driver's seat of Appellant's vehicle. (Id. at 40) c) A single .40 casing from the scene was discovered to be a forensic match to two casings in the Appellant's vehicle, and that they were identified as having been fired from the same firearm. (Id.) d)

Forensic analysis of the recovered bullet from the autopsy determined that it was consistent with being fired from a Smith & Wesson .40 model or Smith & Wesson 10mm model. (Id. at 41) e) The State claimed that Appellant's police statement denied culpability, and that Appellant claimed that his statement to Colarchik was regarding unrelated matters. (Id. at 41)

The State wished to introduce evidence of a shooting at the nearby Lang residence approximately two-and-a-half years prior. The 16-year-old son at that residence had had a recent falling out with Ethan Cameron. (Id. at 43) Forensic testing later confirmed that the casing found in the Lang residence matched the single casing from the murder scene. (Id. at 44) Ethan denied firing the gunshot and showed proof of an alibi through a "Life360 app" as well as proof from that "app" that Appellant was near the Lang residence at the time of the shooting. (Id. at 44)

The second incident was the shooting approximately 15 months prior to Faust's homicide of the exterior of the Tait residence in that neighborhood, which was struck by a bullet. (Id. at 44) Forensic analysis matched the casing in that case to the 9mm casing recovered from the Appellant's Acura, and both casings were identified as having been fired from a Glock 17 recovered from the Appellant's bedroom. (Id. at 44) The State admitted that there was no known connection between the occupants of that residence and Galena High School. (Id. at 44)

The third shooting incident the State wished to introduce was at the "Crofoot" residence, in the same general area of Reno, approximately five months prior to Faust's demise. Forensic analysis of the bullet found near that residence was inconclusive. But the Crofoot's had children who were friends of child victims in two other shooting cases, attended Galena High School with them, and played baseball with Ethan. (Id. at 45) They noted further evidence that the Appellant knew about the shooting per a conversation with the Crofoot's. (Id.)

The State also indicated that there were four other shootings believed to be connected to the Appellant in that neighborhood between October and December of 2018.

The State indicated that "a hearing is not requested at this time as there is no current admissible purpose." (1-AA-46) The State indicated that as the Defendant's theory of the case develops, a relevant and admissible purpose <u>may</u> develop. (<u>Id</u>.)

The defense opposed these motions (1-AA-49-55; 56-60), and the matter went to a pre-trial evidentiary hearing. (1-AA-70-140)

In the trial court's written Order, the Court agreed with the State that the "road rage incidents" were relevant to prove motive, intent, and/or absence of mistake or accident. (1-AA-144) The Court also found that the evidence was prejudicial, but not <u>unduly</u> prejudicial such that Appellant would be deprived of a fair trial. (Id. at 146)

The Court also followed the State's request on the "shootings" evidence, denying that motion without prejudice to renew. (1-AA-147)

The case proceeded to a ten-day jury trial. (1-AA-141-6-AA-1494) The jury returned a verdict of first-degree murder. (7-AA-1495-96)

As discussed below, the "shootings" evidence was presented at the sentencing hearing. (See: 7-AA-1516-1521)

The jury returned a verdict of life without the possibility of parole. (7-AA-1613) At a separate sentencing hearing, the Court added to that a consecutive term of 8-20 years for the deadly weapon enhancement of NRS 193.165. (7-AA-1614)

The Judgment of Conviction was filed September 9, 2021. (<u>Id</u>. at 1614-15)

Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal to this Court seven days later, on September 16, 2021. (7-AA-1616-17) This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to NRS 177.015(3) and NRAP 4(b).

#### **II. STATEMENT OF FACTS**

**Robert Medina**, a Washoe County Sheriff's Office Deputy (2-AA-254) responded to 13425 Welcome Way in South-Southwest Reno off of Zolezzi Lane on February 11, 2020 at approximately 10:04pm, on the subject of the sound of a gunshot with one vehicle driving away and another vehicle remaining on the scene. (Id. at 255-56) When he arrived, he saw a goldish-grey Chevy Silverado truck registered to Jarrod Faust, facing south. The driver's side window was down, and there was music playing from inside the vehicle. Faust was slumped over in the driver's seat. He had a vape pen in his right hand and a gunshot wound to the left side of his face. (Id. at 259-60) There was a large amount of blood throughout the interior of the truck, slight body damage to the front right driver's side bumper, and damage to a mailbox column at 13425 Welcome Way, consistent with the damage to the right front driver's side of the bumper. (Id. at 261) There were no weapons inside of Faust's vehicle. (Id. at 262)

The deputies recovered a shell casing from the cul-de-sac of Welcome Way.

(Id. at 264) The vehicle was in gear when they first arrived. (Id. at 267)

Neighbors on Welcome Way heard two loud "pops" between 8:40pm and 8:45pm and saw two vehicles, both with their headlights facing towards 13405 Welcome Way. Then one of the two vehicles left at a fairly high rate of speed while the other one stayed on the street for approximately 30 minutes. (See: 2-AA-

293-94; 329-31; 343; 352-54.) Mr. Faust's vehicle hit the mailbox at 13425 Welcome Way. (<u>Id</u>. at 354, 360) Video surveillance footage at two of the residences in that neighborhood reveal that the homicide likely occurred at 8:44pm. (2-AA-383-84)

Detectives from the sheriff's office collected a fired cartridge case at the bottom part of the cul-de-sac, which was a federal .40 Smith & Wesson cartridge. (2-AA-398, 415-16) They also identified a set of skid marks that were tire impression marks on the asphalt of Welcome Way. (<u>Id</u>. at 416) The distance between the cartridge casing and Mr. Faust's truck was about 50 yards. (<u>Id</u>. at 481)

David Colarchik, a very good friend of the Appellant's (3-AA-548), received a text from the Appellant on February 11, 2020 at about 9:30 or 9:45 in the evening. The Appellant said, "You're not going to believe what happened to me tonight." Colarchik replied, "What?" Appellant replied, "Well, you can't ever tell anybody about this, not even Katie [Colarchik's wife (Id. at 552)]." (Id. at 549) Colarchik asked what happened, and Appellant responded, "I think I just shot someone." Colarchik was shocked. Appellant repeated the statement. At some point Colarchik asked why, and Appellant replied, "I hate when people make me mad. I don't know why I get so angry. I hate that I know the law." (Id. at 551)

Appellant also said, "Well, I'm the one that got out of the car." Colarchik asked, "What do you mean?" Appellant responded, "I'm the one that got out of the

car and went up to him. (Id. at 551-52)

Ethan Cameron, the Appellant's 20-year-old son (3-AA-585), testified that his father (the Appellant) had firearms. He had a silver 9mm behind his nightstand, and a black Glock – probably a .40 – underneath the driver's seat of his car. The rest of his firearms were kept in a safe. (Id. at 586) There were a number of rifles and pistols in the gun safe. (Id. at 587) The Appellant drove a silver Acura MDX. (Id. at 588) Ethan also drove his father's car, typically during ski season when he did not have snow tires on his vehicle. (Id. at 588-89)

Detectives came out to speak with both of them. They both denied knowledge of a shooting, but the Appellant had told Ethan that he had heard about it previously. (<u>Id</u>. at 594-95)

Sometime thereafter Ethan came across in the file cabinet an owner's manual for a .40-caliber pistol. He gave that manual to Detective Nevills. (<u>Id</u>. at 599-600)

**Detective Francisco Lopez**, of RPD (3-AA-662), served a search warrant on the Appellant's residence and collected a Smith & Wesson from the nightstand, a 9mm handgun in the safe, a Glock17 9mm in a shoulder holster, an AR-15 style rifle, .23 in caliber, and a passport and a couple of telephones inside of the safe. (Id. at 669, 672, 674, 678, 679, 682)<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Had trial counsel objected to this, the undersigned would have made an issue out of it. It does not play as a "plain error issue," however, because to the undersigned's knowledge this Court has not ever ruled on evidence of weapons that

During a search of the Acura MDX the police did not find any weapon (3-AA-690), but they found a casing on the floorboard that was a 9mm made by Luger. (Id. at 694-95) Through ATF, police were able to determine that Appellant purchased a .40-caliber handgun in December of 2011 from "Nevada Guns & Ammo" in Silversprings. (Id. at 698-99) However, they did not find a .40-caliber Glock anywhere on the Appellant's property. (Id. at 709-10)

On February 24, 2020, Appellant came into a wine store owned by **Gary Miner**, a friend and customer of the Appellant. (4-AA-768-69) Appellant indicated that he was under investigation for a murder. When the witness asked why, he relayed that he called a friend the other night and told him that he might have shot somebody. (<u>Id</u>. at 769)

The next day Appellant came back into the store and said police had come to his home and taken his guns, his phone equipment and computers. Appellant whispered, "They are not going to find the gun." Miner asked him whether he did it. Appellant responded, "You know I can't tell you that." (Id. at 769-70)

**Dave Nevills**, the lead RPD detective, questioned the Appellant. Appellant admitted there had been a motorcycle on Welcome Way, but it was not in the culde-sac. The only ones there were Mr. Faust and his truck and the Appellant. (4-

are not the "murder weapon" in a murder case. Other courts have, and have ruled that it is irrelevant and potentially prejudicial.

AA-834) Appellant said he had a fuzzy memory about the incident involved in the case (<u>Id</u>. at 837), but also said he followed the truck because he thought something bad was going to happen. He said the reason he did that is "because I'm stupid." (<u>Id</u>. at 837-38)

One hour and 41 minutes into the interrogation, Appellant denied shooting Mr. Faust. (<u>Id</u>. at 843)

Appellant said there was nobody run off the road or brake-checked by the truck. He stated he was afraid of repercussions. (<u>Id</u>. at 846) He also said there was no road rage on his part. Appellant said he was following a motorcycle. (<u>Id</u>. at 847) Appellant emphasized, "I'm not a road rage guy." (2-AA-855) Appellant indicated that all of his guns were at his house. (<u>Id</u>. at 849)

On February 24, while searching Appellant's 2012 Acura MDX, the officers found a fired cartridge case under the driver's seat. (4-AA-905) They also found another one under the MDX, both .40 Smith & Wesson and Federal. (<u>Id</u>. at 906-07) They also found a fired cartridge from a 9mm weapon. (<u>Id</u>. at 911)

Leah Mazza (4-AA-953-54) testified that on October 30, 2018 she was driving back home to her parents' home in south Reno. (Id. at 954) She turned right off of Damonte Ranch and Arrowcreek Parkway to go up to Zolezzi. As she passed a car someone put their bright lights on and tailgated her. She tried to speed away, but the car stayed with her. (Id. at 956) She tried to lose the car through backroads,

but the car continued to follow her. (<u>Id</u>. at 959) She ultimately got to her parents' home, but when she looked out the window, she noticed the car was parked behind hers with its brights on. (<u>Id</u>. at 961) She noticed someone outside of the car taking pictures of her car while standing behind the car. The car was a white colored small SUV and the driver was a man. (<u>Id</u>. at 961-62) Nobody from the car was yelling at her, and there was no weapon. The person who got out of the SUV did not come onto her parents' property. (<u>Id</u>. at 969-70) Her car was not vandalized, nor was her parents' home. She never saw that person again. (<u>Id</u>. at 971-72)

Aspen C., the Appellant's daughter, testified that she was with her father one evening when a vehicle came up behind them on her tail. He slowed down to let the vehicle pass, and then they turned onto the same street the Appellant turned onto. (Id. at 982-83) Appellant followed the vehicle. It ended up turning off at one of the lower streets before their cul-de-sac. Appellant got out and yelled at them "loud and aggressive," while she stayed in the car and hid. (Id. at 983) The people in the car Appellant followed were just teenagers. (Id. at 985) After that Appellant got back into his car and drove away. (Id. at 987) Nothing violent occurred during the incident. (Id. at 991) The Appellant did not get his gun out of the car. (Id.) The witness does not remember what year the incident happened. (Id. at 991-92)

Appellant ultimately apologized to the two girls for scaring them. (<u>Id</u>. at 998)

A criminalist collected the fired projectile from Mr. Faust's body during his autopsy. (5-AA-1059-60)

The DNA analyst concluded that only Mr. Faust's DNA was located in his Chevrolet Silverado, and only Mr. Cameron's DNA was located in the Acura MDX. (5-AA-1078)

The firearms examiner determined that the .40-caliber cases reported from the vehicle, as well as the .40-caliber fired cartridge case reported from the scene, were all fired from the same unknown firearm. (5-AA-1097-98) The bullet found at autopsy is consistent with a .40-caliber and consistent with one fired by a Smith & Wesson model of the kind Appellant owned. (See: 5-AA-1098, 1101) The 9mm fired cartridge reported from the vehicle was fired from a Glock17, which was one of the recovered weapons. (Id. at 1102-03)

The medical examiner conducted the autopsy examination of Jarrod Faust. (5-AA-1111, 1113) The cause of death was the gunshot wound to his head and the manner of death was homicide. (<u>Id</u>. at 1122) The entrance gunshot wound was on the left side of Mr. Faust's face (<u>Id</u>. at 1116), and was fired within several feet of his body. (<u>Id</u>. at 1117) There were particles of gun powder stippling on his face. (<u>Id</u>.)

Wayne Michael Cameron testified in his defense.

On February 11, 2020 he left Murrietta's restaurant after two drinks. (5-AA-

1152-53) He left around 8:30pm, and took some back roads towards his home. He became aware of a pickup truck and a motorcycle approaching from behind. The pickup had been stopped for some time. The motorcycle was stopped behind him. The motorcycle attempted to go around the truck, and the truck started going and almost hit him. The motorcycle ultimately got around the pickup. Appellant was thirty yards away when this happened. (Id. at 1152-53)

At first Appellant thought the pickup driver was a teenager texting in the middle of the road. Then he thought the person might be intoxicated. Therefore, he followed the pickup. (<u>Id</u>. at 1154) He followed the pickup through a number of turns, and they ended up in the cul-de-sac in question. (<u>Id</u>. at 1155-56)

When Appellant arrived in the cul-de-sac he pulled his window down. The other driver had his window down. Appellant asked if he was alright. The truck driver said he was. The truck driver then said, "Why the fuck are you following me?" (sic) The Appellant replied, "Why are you trying to kill people?" The driver said, "What business of that is yours?" (Id. at 1157-58)

At one point the truck driver got mad, flinched at the Appellant, and said, "I will kill you, motherfucker." (sic) The truck driver was still in his vehicle when he said that. He had opened the door and the Appellant was behind his door. (<u>Id</u>. at 1159)

The truck driver held his hand up and the Appellant believed he had a gun.

(<u>Id</u>. at 1160) Thus, the Appellant reached under his seat, grabbed his gun, popped the clip, and loaded a cartridge. (<u>Id</u>. at 1160)

At that point the Appellant set the gun on his driver's seat. He was scared but he said, "Hey, you know what, let's just call it a night. This isn't my problem." (Id. at 1160-61) The truck driver said in response, "Problem? You don't know my problems, you little piece of shit. You panty-wearing motherfucker." (sic) Appellant then said, "Just so you know, I have a gun too." The driver started yelling, "Fuck you." (sic) He turned his wheel straight at the Appellant and drove it right at him with his arm up, like he was going to kill the Appellant with his vehicle. (Id. at 1161)

When that happened, the Appellant grabbed his gun. The Appellant tried to evade the truck to his left, and the Appellant fired his weapon. (<u>Id</u>. at 1162)

When Appellant first fired the gun, he did not see where he was aiming.

After he fired it, the pickup was in front of him. The truck did not strike him or his vehicle. The driver appeared to change directions. When he fired his weapon, the Appellant could not see the pickup driver at the moment of firing. (Id. at 1164)

After he fired the weapon, the driver took off. The Appellant got in his car and left. The pickup had stopped 60 or 70 yards down the road. The Appellant could not see inside the pickup when he drove by it. He did not attempt to do so. (Id. at 1165)

He admitted his conversation with Mr. Colarchik, but added that he also told Colarchik that "He (Appellant) could have died that night." (Id. at 1167)

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