IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

WAYNE MICHAEL CAMERON,

No. 83531

Electronically Filed Apr 25 2022 04:40 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Appellant,

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

CHRISTOPHER J. HICKS Washoe County District Attorney

RICHARD F. CORNELL Richard F. Cornell, P.C. 150 Ridge Street, Second Floor Reno, Nevada 89501

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

JENNIFER NOBLE Chief Appellate Deputy One South Sierra Street Reno, Nevada 89501

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Under NRS 48.045(2) evidence of other crimes, wrongs or acts is not admissible to show the character of the person in order to prove the person

acted in conformity therewith. But such crimes, wrongs or acts may be admissible "for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident." NRS 45.045(2). Under *Bigpond* "evidence of 'other crimes, wrongs or acts' may be admitted under NRS 48.045(2) for a relevant nonpropensity purpose other than those listed in the statute." Bigpond v. State, 128 Nev. 108, 116 (2012), see also, Tinch v. State, 113 Nev. 1170 (1997). Before admission of such evidence, the Court must hold a hearing to determine whether: (1) the prior bad act is relevant to the crime charged and for a purpose other than proving the defendant's propensity, (2) the act is proven by clear and convincing evidence, and (3) the probative value of the evidence is not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Bigpond v. State, 128 Nev. 108, 117, 270 P.3d 1244, 1250 (2012). Importantly, Bigpond acknowledges that other act evidence is not limited only to motive, intent, lack of mistake, common scheme or plan, but also may be admissible for any other nonpropensity purpose. *Bigpond* at 116, 1249.

With specific intent crimes, the intent is "automatically at issue" and other act evidence may be admissible to prove intent. *Hubbard v. State*, 134 Nev. 450, 456, 422 P.3d 1260, 1265 (2018). In sum, other act evidence

"must be relevant without relying on a propensity inference, and its probative value must not be substantially outweighed by the risk of unfair prejudice." *Id*.

The jury was entitled to know that Cameron's claimed innocent purpose in following Faust was inconsistent with his habit of following other drivers on the road when they made him angry. The testimony of Mazza and Cameron's daughter were relevant to motive, intent, or absence of mistake or accident. This testimony was also probative of his true intent or motive: to confront Faust the same way he did in the prior two incidents.

In all the three instances, the location was distinctly similar: Zolezzi Lane, which was on Cameron's drive home. The drivers were all youthful, and Cameron followed them all at night to confront them. Motive or intent was especially important in this case because there were no eyewitnesses to the shooting, or the minutes leading up to it. Cameron was the only remaining witness and his statements to police were self-serving and unreliable.

The prior acts were evidence of motive, and so similar that it could reasonably be inferred that the defendant harbored the same intent in all three instances. Cameron's history of getting out of the car to confront fellow motorists was probative. The prior acts showed that his motive was

to conduct himself like some sort of civilian traffic enforcer and was direct and circumstantial evidence of his motive and intent that night in the culde-sac with Faust.

The Nevada Supreme Court has defined "unfair prejudice" as an appeal to "the emotional and sympathetic tendencies of a jury, rather than the jury's intellectual ability to evaluate evidence." *State v. Dist. Ct. (Armstrong)*, 127 Nev. 927, 933, 267 P.3d 777, 781 (2011) (*citing Krause Inc. v. Little*, 117 Nev. 929, 935, 34 P.3d 566, 570 (2001)); *Schlotfeldt v. Charter Hosp. of Las Vegas*, 112 Nev. 42, 46, 910 P.2d 271, 273 (1996)).

With respect to Federal Rule of Evidence 403, the United States Supreme Court has explained, "[t]he term 'unfair prejudice,' as to a criminal defendant, speaks to the capacity of some concededly relevant evidence to lure the factfinder into declaring guilt on a ground different from proof specific to the offense charged." *Old Chief v. United States*, 519 U.S. 172, 180, 117 S. Ct. 644, 136 L.Ed.2d 574 (1997).

"All evidence offered by the prosecutor is prejudicial to the defendant; there would be no point in offering it if it were not." *Holmes v. State*, 129 Nev. 567, 575, 306 P.3d 415, 420 (2013) (*citing United States v. Foster*, 939 F.2d 445, 456 (7th Cir.1991)). The real question is whether the probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. *Id*.

(emphasis in original, *citing Schlotfeldt v. Charter Hosp. of Las Vegas*, 112 Nev. 42, 46, 910 P.2d 271, 273 (1996) (the "substantially outweigh" requirement "implies a favoritism toward admissibility")).

In finding the prior road rage incidents with Mazza and his own daughter admissible, the district court applied the appropriate authorities and found that the prior acts were relevant and admissible of Cameron's intent and motive when he approached Faust: to engage in confrontation with a fellow motorist. I AA 143-147. It carefully considered the probative value of the evidence versus the danger of unfair prejudice. *Id*. The district court did not abuse its discretion as to this issue, and Cameron's arguments should be rejected.

- D. <u>The Court Did Not Commit Error in Allowing Victim Impact</u> <u>Testimony.</u>
 - 1. Standard of Review

Cameron concedes that this issue was not raised below, and is subject to plain error review. OB, 34; *LaChance v. State*, 130 Nev. 263, 271 n.1, 272-73, 321 P.3d 919 (2014).

2. Discussion

Cameron appears to contend that the victim's family was improperly permitted to ask the jury for a penalty of life without the possibility of parole. OB, 35. He cites no authority that actually supports this novel
proposition. Astonishingly, he even goes so far as to dismiss the victim impact testimony from grieving family members as nothing more than a "revenge fest." OB, 38. This is a patently unfair characterization of the victim impact testimony.

At the sentencing hearing, the jury heard from Faust's uncle, Jeffrey Ardito, who also happened to know Cameron through youth sports. VII AA 1526-1532. He spoke of his shock in learning that Cameron, whom he considered a friend, murdered his nephew. *Id*. He spoke of Faust's love of sports and his sense of humor. The defense declined to cross-examine him.

Jordyn Faust testified about how much she missed her older brother. *Id.*, 1546-1550. She told the jury about Christmas memories, pranks with her brother, and his favorite breakfast. *Id*. She spoke of the traumatic impact of his death on her parents. *Id*. At the conclusion of her testimony, she asked for a sentence of life without parole. *Id*. The defense declined to cross-examine her. *Id*.

Ashley Faust, another of the victim's sisters, spoke about how her brother protected her growing up. *Id.*, 1552-1559. She spoke of his love of sports, and the trauma suffered by the family. *Id.* Ashley told the jury that Faust was would frequently play with her children and was the "world's best uncle." *Id.* She spoke of her 6-year-old son, who missed his uncle. *Id.*

She also requested a sentence of life without parole. *Id.* Again, the defense declined to cross-examine the witness. *Id.*

The victim's mother, Karen Faust, also testified. *Id.*, 1560-1574. She spoke of her son's protective nature, and their tightly knit family. *Id.* She read notes from his friends and family about how much they loved Faust and would miss him. *Id.* She spoke of missing her son at every family celebration, and her devastation at the prospect of never seeing him grow into a father. *Id.* She recalled that on the day of his death, Faust was excited to show her the Valentine's Day present he had purchased for his girlfriend. *Id.* Karen also spoke of the horror of knowing that the last thing her son saw was a gun pointed at his face, and of having to identify a picture of just half of his face due to his injuries. *Id.* She asked for a sentence of life without parole. *Id.* Again, the defense waived cross-examination. *Id.*

This was not a "revenge fest," as Cameron so crudely terms it. Moreover, Cameron's argument ignores Article I, Section 8A (h) of the Nevada Constitution, which provides that victims of crime have a right to be reasonably heard, at any public proceeding, including sentencing. Cameron provides not a single supporting authority for the proposition that this family was not entitled to express their grief to the jury or could not

appropriately speak to sentencing during their impact testimony.

Cameron also takes issue with Detective Nevills' testimony regarding a recorded jail call in which Ethan Cameron urged his father to take responsibility for his actions. VII AA 1522. He characterizes this as a prejudicial "slap" at him through his son. There was no objection to this testimony. Moreover, although Cameron alleges discussion of the jail call violated the 8th Amendment, he provides no cogent argument to support this bare allegation. OB, 38. The jail call evidence was not highly suspect or impalpable; to the contrary, it was documented by a recording, and properly heard at sentencing.

E. <u>The District Court Did Not Err in Admitting Evidence of Prior</u> <u>Shootings Connected to Cameron at the Sentencing Hearing.</u>

1. Standard of Review

The decision to admit particular evidence during the penalty phase of a murder trial is within the sound discretion of the trial court. *Milligan v*. *State*, 101 Nev. 627, 636, 708 P.2d 289, 295 (1985); NRS 48.035.

2. Discussion

During the sentencing phase, the jury heard testimony regarding prior shootings in the area connected to Cameron. VII AA 1516-1519. The shootings were distinct in that they all involved houses being shot at during nighttime hours. *Id.* Detective Dave Nevills testified that on June 22, 2017 at about 11:08 p.m., the Lange residence at 17010 Mountain Blue Bird was shot at least three times. *Id.* Responding deputies were able to locate three bullet holes in the residence and eight .40 Smith & Wesson casings in the street in front of the house. Deputies learned that one of the Lange children, then aged 16, lived at the residence with his parents. *Id.* The child told deputies that he used to be friends with Ethan Cameron, but they recently had a falling out and therefore suspected him. *Id.*

Forensic testing later confirmed that the casings found at the Lange residence matched the single casing from the murder scene as well as the two casings recovered in the defendant's Acura. Id. In January 2021, Ethan Cameron contacted investigators and told them he had some information about the shooting. Id. In a recorded interview, Ethan told detectives that on the night of the shooting, Brooks Lange had contacted him and asked him if he had shot his house up. Ethan denied committing the shooting. Id. During that time, the Cameron family all shared and tracked each other's locations using the Life360 app. Id. After Brooks accused Ethan, Ethan sent a screenshot of his location to Brooks to show that he did not commit the crime. Id. Ethan also saw that Life360 showed his father was near the Lange residence at the time the shooting occurred. Id.

Detective Nevills also testified that on October 18, 2018, at 9:30 p.m. the exterior of the Tait residence, located about two minutes away from Cameron's house, was struck by a bullet. *Id.*, 1519-1520. Investigators recovered the bullet from a wall of the house. *Id.* They also located a single 9mm casing in the street in front of the residence. *Id.* Forensic analysis matched the 9mm casing on scene to the 9mm casing recovered from Cameron's Acura. *Id.* In turn, both casings were identified as having been fired from a Glock 17 recovered from the defendant's bedroom. *Id.*

Evidence of unrelated offenses for which a defendant has not been convicted may be admitted unless the evidence is dubious or tenuous or its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice or the other concerns set forth in NRS 48.035. *Jones v. State*, 107 Nev. 632, 635–36, 817 P.2d 1179, 1181 (1991).

Cameron contends that the district court erred in admitting this information during the sentencing hearing. He relies in part on *Mason v*. *State*, 118 Nev. 554, 51 P.3d 521 (2002). This reliance is misplaced. In that case, the State was seeking the death penalty. The State did not provide prior notice of the specific aggravating circumstances it intended to introduce at the penalty hearing, as required by Supreme Court Rule 250. *Mason*, 118 Nev. 554, 560-561. Nonetheless, the State elicited testimony

from two witnesses with no notice to the defense. *Id.* One witness testified that the defendant threw a Molotov cocktail at his house. Another testified that the four years prior to the murder, that he had shot a man in the back because the man had hit the defendant's girlfriend. *Id.*, 526. The Nevada Supreme Court erred because it did not find good cause for the lack of notice pursuant to Supreme Court Rule 50. *Id.* Nonetheless, it found no reversible error occurred, because Mason was not sentenced to death. *Id.*

Next, Cameron cites *Allen v. State*, 99 Nev. 485, 665 P.2d 238 (1983). That case also involved a death penalty hearing. During the hearing, the jury heard testimony that the defendant had previously violated the terms of probation by moving without permission and failing to get a job. *Allen*, 99 Nev. 485 at 488. The jury also heard from a jail employee regarding records reflecting that the defendant had had disciplinary problems in jail prior to trial. *Id.* The Nevada Supreme Court reasoned that this evidence should have been arguably excluded because its probative value was outweighed by his prejudicial effect. *Id.*, 489. In reversing the sentencing on other grounds, it remarked that "the district court should be most cautious about admitting such 'character evidence.'" *Id.*

Additionally, Cameron cites *Glipsey v. Sheriff*, 89 Nev. 221, 510 P.2d 623 (1973) in support of his contention that the evidence admitted at

sentencing was "speculative." In that case, prison officials were trying to ascertain how drugs were being smuggled into the prison. *Glipsey*, 89 Nev. 221, 223. Marijuana was found in a paper towel dispenser of the women's restroom. At the preliminary hearing, testimony established that the defendant was the last person to use the restroom during a surveillance period. Additional testimony established that two other women had also accessed that same restroom. *Id.*, 223. In reviewing the pre-trial habeas petition, the Nevada Supreme Court found that the defendant was bound over in error because her access to the restroom was not exclusive. *Id.*, 224.

Casings recovered in front of the Lange residence matched the single casing from the murder scene as well as the two casings recovered in the defendant's Acura. The Life360 application showed that Ethan Cameron was nowhere near the residence at the time of the shooting, but his father was. VII AA 1516-1519.

Cameron's comparison of his case to *Glipsey* is ill-conceived. Here, during the penalty phase, the jury heard evidence from Detective Nevills about the two shooting incidents. This evidence included forensic analysis of casings and firearms that connected Cameron directly to the incidents. Investigators recovered the bullet from a wall of the Tait residence, and a casing near the home. VII AA 1519-1520. They also located a single 9mm

casing in the street in front of the residence. *Id.* Forensic analysis matched the 9mm casing on scene to the 9mm casing recovered from Cameron's Acura, and both casings were identified as having been fired from a Glock 17 recovered from Cameron's bedroom. *Id.*

Contrary to Cameron's insistence, the evidence admitted at the penalty hearing was not tenuous or dubious. The assertion that he was involved in the other shootings was well supported by forensic evidence. The district court did not abuse its discretion.

F. This Court Should Decline to Hold NRS 200.030(4) Unconstitutional.

1. Standard of Review

Cameron concedes that this issue was not raised below, it is subject to plain error review. OB, 42; *LaChance v. State*, 130 Nev. 263, 271 n.1, 272-73, 321 P.3d 919 (2014).

2. Discussion

Cameron argues that this Court should find the last sentence of NRS 200.030(4) unconstitutional. He asserts that it renders non-capital sentencings "free-for-alls" in violation of the Eighth Amendment. OB, 42. In support of this assertion, he references the Pardons Board's inability to commute sentences of life without the possibility of parole, but then concedes in a footnote that such sentences can be commuted to a term of

years. *Id.*, 43. Absent from the Opening Brief is any analysis or cogent argument about why Cameron believes the statute fails to pass constitutional muster.

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